IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

VALLIE HUFFMAN,

STATEMENT OF FACTS OF THE CASE

In the early part of 1999, Robert Criner was dating the tenant of rental property owned by Vallie Huffman located in Clendenin, Kanawha County, West Virginia. By May, 1999, Criner's girlfriend had broken up with him and was trying to get him to stay away from her. On May 23, 1999, Criner was heard threatening his girlfriend, her family and to burn down their house. In the early morning hours of May 24, 1999, Criner was seen on the Appellant's property. Shortly

thereafter, the house burnt to the ground. Thankfully, Criner's former girlfriend and family had already fled the house and suffered no physical harm.

After this case was filed, the Appellant filed discovery. The Appellee responded to virtually all requests and interrogatories by asserting his right to remain silent pursuant to the West Virginia and United States Constitutions. In response, the Appellant filed a motion for summary judgment because, due to the adverse inferences arising from Criner's exercise of his right to remain silent, there were no material issues of fact to be tried. The trial court denied the motion.

While the case was pending, it was discovered that Ms. Huffman had filed for bankruptcy and that the property which was destroyed by Criner was the property of the bankruptcy estate. A six month stay was granted to seek to have the bankruptcy trustee reopen the bankruptcy case and hire counsel for the Appellant to pursue the estate's claim against Criner in March 2003. The Appellant was not permitted to prosecute the case in any way pending the resolution of this issue. The trustee was successful in reopening the case and hiring counsel to pursue the claim. Unfortunately, the order granting the request of trustee was not entered and counsel retained until after the trial court determined that the stay had expired. Notwithstanding the fact that the Appellant was prevented from prosecuting her case until after the bankruptcy court had reopened her

bankruptcy case and the effort to have the case reopened was solely in the hands of the trustee, the trial court dismissed the case for not prosecuting it when the stay expired.

III.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND THE MANNER OF DECISION BELOW

A. The trial court erred in denying the Appellant's motion for summary judgment.

B. The trial court erred in dismissing this case from its docket.

IV.

POINTS OF ERROR AND AUTHORITIES

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE APPELLANT.

United States ex rel. Bilokumsky v. Tod, 263 U.S. 149, 44 S. Ct. 54, 68 L.Ed. 221 (1923)

Baxter v. Palmigiano, 425 U.S. 308, 96 S.Ct. 1551, 47 L.Ed.2d 810 (1976)

Gooch v. W.Va. Dept. of Public Safety, 465 S.E.2d 628 (1995)

West Virginia Dept. of Health and Human Resources ex rel. Wright v. Doris S., 197 W.Va. 489, 475 S.E.2d 865 (1996)

Riffe v. Armstrong, 477 S.E.2d 535 (1996)

State ex rel. Wright v. Stucky, 205 W.Va. 171, 517 S.E.2d 36 (1999)

State ex rel. Myers v. Sanders, 206 W.Va. 544, 526 S.E.2d 320 (1999)

In re Daniel D. and Samantha D., 211 W.Va. 79, 562 S.E.2d 147 (2002)

In re Aaron Thomas M., Delta Dawn M., and Luke Brian M., 212 W.Va. 604, 575 S.E.2d 214, (2002)

West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 56

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THIS CASE FROM
ITS DOCKET.

United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment

West Virginia Constitution, Article 3

Davis v. Sheppe, 187 W.Va. 194, 417 S.E.2d 113 (1992)

Bartles v. Hinkle, 196 W.Va. 381, 472 S.E.2d 827 (1996)

Dimon v. Mansy, 198 W.Va. 40, 479 S.E.2d 339 (1996)

Howerton v. Tri-State Salvage, Inc., 210 W.Va. 233, 557
S.E.2d 287 (2001)

Durham v. Florida East Coast Ry. Co., 385 F.2d 366, 368 (5th
Cir.1967)

V.
DISCUSSION OF LAW

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING
SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE PETITIONER

The Appellant moved for summary judgment in this matter pursuant to Rule 56 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure.

Rule 56 states that summary judgment is proper in those instances where pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions, together with affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

The Appellee, Robert Criner, was to be deposed on July 26, 2000. The Appellee failed to attend this deposition. Another deposition was scheduled.

The Appellee was deposed on August 4, 2000. In answer to each and every question asked of him, the Appellee stated:

"Upon the advice of my attorney, Jim Cagle, I invoke the privileges given to me by the West Virginia and the United States Constitution not to be compelled to be a witness against myself in any criminal case." **Deposition of Robert Criner, pages 3-6.**

The Appellee answered in this fashion to every question put forth by Appellant's counsel -- including the question "State your name." **Deposition of Robert Criner, page 3.**

The Appellee can, in fact, invoke his Constitutional privilege not to testify. The Appellant is aware that after the Appellee exercises that right, a Court will not compel

the Appellee to testify except in extraordinary circumstances. However, by exercising that right, the Appellee put himself at risk of adverse consequences in this civil action.

The Appellee was properly served with Interrogatories and Requests for Production on February 18, 2000. Plaintiff's Motion to Compel Discovery Answers was granted in May 2000. The Appellee did not respond to these Interrogatories or Requests for Production in any fashion until June 27, 2000. Out of fifteen (15) interrogatories posed, eleven (11) questions were answered by the following statement:

"The defendant invokes his right to be free from providing any information which might be used against him in prosecuting a criminal case." Defendant's Answers to Plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories, pages 1-5.

Two other answers were non responsive, leaving only two interrogatories answered. The Request for Production has not been answered in any fashion.

The Appellee made a blanket objection to all discovery requests and questions put to him. This in spite of an Order to Compel Discovery issued by the trial Court. In *State ex rel. Wright v. Stucky*, 205 W.Va. 171, 517 S.E.2d 36, 205 W.Va. 171 (1999), this Court stated that this is not appropriate:

"We do, however, observe that not every question at a deposition -- or request for admission, or document request, or other discovery request -- will necessarily require a response that in

its entirety is potentially self-incriminating. It would seem therefore that the self-incrimination right, if it is asserted, should ordinarily be asserted in response to specific questions or other specific discovery requests -- as opposed to a blanket objection to a form of discovery -- unless such a procedure would be demonstrably futile. See Syllabus Point 2, **West Virginia Dept. of Health and Human Resources ex rel. Wright v. Doris S.**, 197 W.Va. 489, 475 S.E.2d 865 (1996).” **State ex rel. Wright v. Stucky**, 205 W.Va. 171, 517 S.E.2d 36 (1999).

This Court has also ruled that although a Defendant has the right under the West Virginia and the United States Constitutions not to be compelled to be a witness against himself in any criminal case, that same Defendant risks adverse consequences in civil proceedings:

“Additionally, we observe that in some circumstances, a party may permissibly be required to risk adverse consequences in civil proceedings, as a result of their silence based on the assertion of their right against compelled self-incrimination. See Syllabus Point 2, **West Virginia Dept. of Health and Human Resources ex rel. Wright v. Doris S.**, 197 W.Va. 489, 475 S.E.2d 865 (1996).” **State ex rel. Wright v. Stucky**, 205 W.Va. 171, 517 S.E.2d 36, 205 W.Va. 171 (1999).

The United States Supreme Court has gone even farther by stating that adverse inferences against a Defendant who exercises his criminal right against compelled self-incrimination in a civil case are proper:

Baxter v. Palmigiano, 425 U.S. 308, 96 S.Ct. 1551, 47 L.Ed.2d 810 (1976), “the prevailing rule [is] that the Fifth

Amendment does not forbid adverse inferences against parties to civil actions when they refuse to testify in response to probative evidence offered against them: the Amendment 'does not preclude the inference where the privilege is claimed by a party to a civil cause.'" Id. at 318, 96 S.Ct. at 1558 (quoting 8 J. Wigmore, Evidence 439 (McNaughton rev. 1961)); see 1 Franklin D. Cleckley, Handbook on Evidence for West Virginia Lawyers §5-2(B)(1) (3rd ed. 1994). Moreover, "aside from the privilege against compelled self-incrimination, the Court has consistently recognized that in proper circumstances silence in the face of accusation is a relevant fact not barred by the Due Process Clause." 425 U.S. at 319, 96 S.Ct. at 1558. "'Silence is often evidence of the most persuasive character.'" Id. (quoting *United States ex rel. Bilokumsky v. Tod*, 263 U.S. 149, 153-154, 44 S. Ct. 54, 56, 68 L.Ed. 221 (1923)). *West Virginia Dept. of Health and Human Resources ex rel. Wright v. Doris S.*, 197 W.Va. 489, 475 S.E.2d 865 (1996)(footnote omitted).

The Appellee, Robert Criner, has refused to testify in response to serious accusations made against him. Therefore as the United States Supreme Court stated in *Baxter*, supra, adverse inferences can be made against him in this civil action because of his refusal to testify in response to probative evidence offered against him. At the very least, his "silence in the face of accusation is a relevant fact". *Baxter v. Palmigiano*, 425 U.S. 308, 96 S.Ct. 1551, 47 L.Ed.2d 810 (1976), as quoted in *West Virginia Dept. of Health and Human Resources ex rel. Wright v. Doris S.*, 197 W.Va. 489, 475 S.E.2d 865 (1996). See also *In re Aaron Thomas M., Delta Dawn M., and Luke Brian M.*, 212 W.Va. 604, 575 S.E.2d 214,

(2002); *In re Daniel D. and Samantha D.*, 211 W.Va. 79, 562 S.E.2d 147 (2002); *State ex rel. Myers v. Sanders*, 206 W.Va. 544, 526 S.E.2d 320 (1999).

During his deposition, the Appellee was asked whether he threatened to harm the occupants of Ms. Huffman's house, and to burn Ms. Huffman's house down.

"Q. Did you threaten to harm the occupants of that house and to burn it down?

A. Upon the advice of my attorney, Jim Cagle, I invoke the privileges given to me by the West Virginia and the United States Constitution not to be compelled to be a witness against myself in any criminal case." *Deposition of Robert Criner*, page 5.

In keeping with *Baxter*, supra, the Court may infer that the Appellee did threaten to harm the occupants of that house and to burn it down.

The Appellee was asked if he burned Ms. Huffman's house down:

"Q. On May 24th, did you burn a house belonging to Vallie Huffman?

A. Upon the advice of my attorney, Jim Cagle, I invoke the privileges given to me by the West Virginia and the United States Constitution not to be compelled to be a witness against myself in any criminal case." *Deposition of Robert Criner*, page 4.

As was stated in *Baxter*, supra, it would be proper for this Court to infer that the Appellee did, in fact, burn Ms. Huffman's house down based on the Appellee's refusal to answer the question put to him at his deposition.

Appellant's counsel asked the Appellee if he burned Ms. Huffman's house down intentionally, with malice:

"Q. Did you intentionally, maliciously, and outrageously burn Vallie Huffman's house?

A. Upon the advice of my attorney, Jim Cagle, I invoke the privileges given to me by the West Virginia and the United States Constitution not to be compelled to be a witness against myself in any criminal case." **Deposition of Robert Criner, page 4.**

The Court can properly infer that the Appellee did, in fact, burn Ms. Huffman's house down maliciously, outrageously and intentionally, based on the Appellee's refusal to properly answer the question.

The Appellant swore to all the elements of her case through her Affidavit. The Appellee offered no evidence to the contrary, and has not refuted any material fact that the Appellant offered as evidence. Thus, the Appellant proved all elements of her case.

The material facts are not in dispute and Appellant was entitled to a judgment in her favor:

- 1) Appellee's actions constituted trespass;
- 2) Appellee's actions were intended to cause or were made with reckless disregard of the probability of causing emotional distress to the Appellant;
- 3) Appellee's actions constituted malicious destruction of property;
- 4) Appellee's actions constituted intentional interference with property;
- 5) Appellee's actions were intended to cause or were made with reckless disregard of the probability of causing emotional distress to the Appellant.

The Appellee, Robert Criner, submitted no evidence to contradict the assertions made by the Appellant, Vallie Huffman. On the contrary, negative inferences can be made from Appellee's refusal to answer discovery. Appellee's silence in the face of accusation is also a relevant fact to be considered against him in determining his liability.

Therefore, there were no material facts in dispute and Appellant was entitled to a judgment in her favor. The Appellant did not appeal this decision as it would have been an interlocutory appeal and barred by the decisions of this Court. See *Gooch v. W.Va. Dept. of Public Safety*, 465 S.E.2d 628 (1995). However, as the order of August 17, 2004, resolved all the issues pending before the trial court, the Appellant now appeals this decision under the doctrine that when one appeals, the appeal encompasses all decisions made in the proceeding. *Riffe v. Armstrong*, 477 S.E.2d 535 (1996).

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING
THIS CASE FROM ITS DOCKET

As described above, the trial court had before it the issue of whether this case should be dismissed under Rule 41(b). The parties had submitted pleadings addressing the issue. The trial court eventually ruled on the known issue but then, without notice to the Appellant, ruled that there was another ground for dismissing the case.

By ruling that the case should be dismissed on grounds which the Appellant had no notice and no opportunity to

address, the trial court denied the Appellant her right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article 3 of the West Virginia Constitution.

In addition to denying the Appellant her due process, the trial court failed to abide by the principles announced in **Bartles v. Hinkle**, 196 W.Va. 381, 472 S.E.2d 827 (1996):

In formulating the appropriate sanction, a court shall be guided by equitable principles. Initially, the court must identify the alleged wrongful conduct and determine if it warrants a sanction. The court must explain its reasons clearly on the record if it decides a sanction is appropriate. To determine what will constitute an appropriate sanction, the court may consider the seriousness of the conduct, the impact the conduct had in the case and in the administration of justice, any mitigating circumstances, and whether the conduct was an isolated occurrence or was a pattern of wrongdoing throughout the case. Syllabus 2, **Bartles v. Hinkle**, supra.

Dismissal is such a harsh sanction that this Court has stated "...dismissal with prejudice is appropriate only in 'flagrant' cases." **Howerton v. Tri-State Salvage, Inc.**, 210 W.Va. 233, 557 S.E.2d 287 at 290 (2001) citing **Dimon v. Mansy**, 198 W.Va. at 45, 479 S.E.2d at 344 (1996). As was stated in **Davis v. Sheppe**, 187 W.Va. 194, 417 S.E.2d 113 (1992), "Indeed, it has been observed that '[t]he decided cases, while noting that dismissal is a discretionary matter,

have generally permitted it only in the face of a clear record of delay or contumacious conduct by the plaintiff.' **Durham v. Florida East Coast Ry. Co.**, 385 F.2d 366, 368 (5th Cir.1967)."

Dismissal in this case was particularly inappropriate because the case had been prepared to trial, only to be continued by the Circuit Court because the Judge felt that there was the appearance of impropriety due to a personal association he had with someone associated with one of the parties. This was not a case allowed to languish from the beginning. This case was vigorously contested from the beginning.

Therefore the trial court erred in dismissing this case from its docket and in failing to craft a sanction, if it believed a sanction was necessary, which punished the wrong doer and not the innocent litigant.

VI.