No. 32706

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Nature of Ruling Below

In 2000 the Appellant Vallie Huffman brought a civil suit seeking damages against Appellee Robert Criner. In her lawsuit Huffman asserted that Criner illegally burned her property. That property, more particularly identified, was a house which was located in the Clendenin area of Kanawha County. It had been rented under the federal HUD program.

Contrary to Huffman's assertions discovery disclosed that *she did not own the property*. Perhaps more significant, discovery also disclosed other reasons which establish that *Huffman was not a proper party plaintiff* in this case. Court records disclosed that 1) the subject property was actually titled in the corporate name of Vallie's, Inc. and 2) Vallie Huffman had filed a personal bankruptcy action which concluded in her discharge in bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of West Virginia. In the bankruptcy action Huffman not only failed to list her holdings under the corporate name Vallie's, Inc. she did not list in any way the property which she claims Criner burned as an asset or liability.

In the face of the above information which appears to damn Huffman's claims that she has sustained damages which are compensable to her, counsel moved the Circuit Court to dismiss her cause of action and to enter judgment in favor of Criner as a matter of law. Criner's motion was denied by Judge Irene C. Berger who ordered the following in an *Order entered on March 4, 2003*:

The Court must liberally construe Rule 15 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure when motions to amend are filed. That Rule provides that the amended complaint relates back to the date of filing when: a) there is no essential change in the cause of action; b) Vallie's, Inc., bears a close relationship to the original Plaintiff; and c) the adverse party is not prejudiced by the assertion of the amendment. Rosier v. Garron, Inc., 199 S.E.2d 50 (1973).

It is therefore ORDERED that:

The Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, having been treated as a motion for summary judgment, is denied.

The Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and Supplemental Motion to Dismiss insofar as the same relies upon the statute of limitations are denied.

The Defendant's Supplemental Motion to Dismiss, which the Court has referred to as the Defendant's Alternative Motion to Dismiss, is hereby granted insofar as said motion relies upon Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. *Therefore, the Court ORDERS that this case be stayed until such time (not to exceed six (6) months) as documents are presented from the Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of West Virginia which allows Vallie's, Inc., to proceed before this Court.*

More than thirteen (13) months passed before the case was heard from again. During that time Huffman did nothing to pursue the case, her counsel did nothing, Vallie's, Inc. did nothing as an entity, by or through anyone to pursue the case, and most importantly the Trustee in bankruptcy (identified as Lynden Graham, Jr.) did nothing. The office of the Circuit Clerk of Kanawha County included this case on a list of cases to be dismissed for inactivity and on April 15, 2005 the case was stricken from the docket under the terms of Rule 41(b), West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure.¹ The Appellant's counsel then moved the Circuit Court requesting that the case be retained on the docket pending resolution of "certain issues in bankruptcy court" which issues were not otherwise identified or amplified. On August 16, 2004 Judge Berger denied the Appellant's "Motion to Not Dismiss" holding that its order of August 16, 2004 that:

¹While the Appellant asserts that sustaining the Rule 41(b) order constitutes error a more careful reading of the record discloses that the case was actually over after September 4, 2003 at which time the stay expired.

“After careful consideration of the same, the Court finds that it stayed this matter for six (6) months by virtue of its Order of March 4, 2003. Said stay was, therefore, in effect until September 4, 2003. No action was taken in this action until the Motion to Not Dismiss was filed on April 7, 2004. Specifically, no motion to extend the stay or any other action was taken.

Additionally, the Court finds that this matter should not have been dismissed pursuant to Rule 41 (for lack of activity for a period in excess of one (1) year) inasmuch as the matter was stayed for six (6) months. However, *the Court finds dismissal was proper as of September 4, 2003, by virtue of the language of the Court’s Order of March 4, 2003.*”

The Appellant challenges the correctness of the foregoing order in this appeal.

II. Statement of Facts of the Case

Essentially, the Appellant claims that Mr. Criner intentionally set fire to the Clendenin property because of some argument with his ex-girlfriend who was then renting the property. The claims of arson led to the filing of a criminal warrant and a later indictment by a Kanawha County grand jury in September of 1999.

The criminal case was dismissed by the Circuit Court because the evidence was lost, misplaced and in some instances improperly packaged by the investigators. That evidence was of a kind which could have been relied upon both by the defense and the State. The criminal case was thus rendered impossible to defend or to prosecute, see e.g. State v. Jones, 239 S.E.2d 763 (1977) requiring proof of incendiary origin as an element of proof.

Evidence developed in defending the civil case disclosed that the Plaintiff-Appellant Huffman did not own the property in question, that she had formed a corporation named Vallie’s, Inc. in whose name the property was titled, that she had filed and been discharged in a bankruptcy in which she made no mention of her interests in Vallie’s, Inc. or this property, and

that subsequently Vallie's, Inc. had been identified by the Secretary of State as not being in good standing due to nonpayment of license taxes. Notwithstanding all of the aforementioned infirmities and apparent bankruptcy fraud, the Circuit Court was generous in its rulings on Appellant's claims. The Appellant was allowed to amend her pleadings, but was ordered in the clearest of terms to present proof that the case was permitted to proceed by order of the Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of West Virginia. After all, if damages were ever established, those damages would actually belong not to Huffman but to the Trustee in Huffman's bankruptcy for distribution to creditors in that Vallie's, Inc. and its holdings would properly be Huffman's assets subject to the bankruptcy plan of distribution.

In her Brief to this Court the Appellant states as a fact that "unfortunately, the order granting the request of trustee [to reopen the bankruptcy] was not entered and counsel retained until after the trial court determined that the stay had expired." This statement lacks important particulars. For example, when did the trustee or counsel actually move the Bankruptcy Court to reopen the bankruptcy case and did they specifically request the Court's permission to pursue the claim against Criner? Moreover, why did it take until April, 2004 – seven (7) months after the stay had expired to do anything at all, and then merely a reflexive reaction to the Clerk's Rule 41(b) notice? No evidence is provided by Appellant and no explanation has been given, thus an essential fact basis in the record is missing.

III. Petitioner's Assignment of Error

The Appellant urges this Court to reverse the Circuit Court because the Court did not grant summary judgment and because the Court enforced its previous order in ruling upon Appellant's "Motion to Not Dismiss."

**IV.
Points and Authorities**

- B. The Circuit Court's Order Of March 4, 2003 Was An Appealable Order Which Was Effective As A Dismissal Of Huffman's Case On September 4, 2003.**

State ex rel. Consolidation Coal Co. v. Clawges, 523 S.E.2d 282 (1999)

State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyon Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995)

- C. The Appellant's Motion Of April 6, 2004 Was Both Untimely And Expressed No Grounds To Support Altering Or Amending the Circuit Court's Judgment.**

James M. B. v. Carolyn M., 456 S.E.2d 16 (1995)

Rule 59(e) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure

- D. The Appellant Has Not Presented Special Circumstances Required To Justify Appealing The Denial Of Summary Judgment.**

Estate of Gooch v. W.Va. Dept. Of Public Safety, 465 S.E.2d 628 (1995)

Sergent v. City of Charleston, 549 S.E.2d 311 (2001)

State v. Adkins, 446 S.E.2d 702 (1994)

State v. Mullins, 383 S.E.2d 47 (1989)

Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995)

Rule 56 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure

- E. The Dismissal Of This Action Below Is Consistent With The Applicable Law And Not An Abuse Of Discretion.**

Burgess v. Porterfield, 469 S.E.2d 114 (1996)

Rules 17 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure

Rules 18 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure

Rules 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure

Rules 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure

Rules 21 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure

Rule 56 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure

**V.
Discussion of Law**

- A. The Appeal is Not Timely**

Appellant Huffman has chosen to appeal two (2) alleged errors. Each of the operative orders which she challenges was entered substantially before this appeal was filed. The

Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment was denied by Judge Paul Zakaib by ordered entered May 24, 2001 and was restated by Judge Berger in an order entered on January 16, 2003.² In that this appeal was filed many, many months later it can hardly be interpreted as having been timely filed as to the denial of summary judgment.

The undersigned submits that the second error in reality addresses the Circuit Court's order of March 4, 2003. That order granted this Appellant a six (6) month stay before any dismissal became effective, a stay which Appellant, her counsel and the real party in interest neglected or ignored for a total period of some thirteen (13) months. In any event, this appeal was certainly filed more than four (4) months beyond either the March 4, 2003 order or its effective date of dismissal of September 4, 2003.

B. The Circuit Court's Order Of March 4, 2003 Was An Appealable Order Which Was Effective As A Dismissal Of Huffman's Case On September 4, 2003.

This Court has held consistently that:

“The key to determining if an order is final . . . is whether the order approximates a final order in its nature and effect.” State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyon Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995); State ex rel. Consolidation Coal Co. v. Clawges, 523 S.E.2d 282 (1999).”

The final effect of Circuit Court's order must be considered applying the foregoing standard. That order, which ruled upon one of Mr. Criner's Motion(s) to Dismiss entitled Defendant's Supplemental Motion to Dismiss, *granted that motion, but stayed its execution* for a period of six (6) months. In effect, this Appellant and her attorney acting through her successor

²For these purposes counsel assumes for argument's sake only that the denial of summary judgment in these circumstances actually results in an appealable order.

in interest who was the Trustee in her bankruptcy had a six (6) month window in which to present documents from the Bankruptcy Court allowing the case to proceed in the Circuit Court. Such documents not only were not presented within six (6) months, but they never had been presented. Nothing could appear more final in nature and effect than a specific and clear directive to a party represented by counsel that the party has six (6) months in which to establish the party's right to proceed. There is a known date – September 4, 2003, a known result – the effective dismissal of the case, and a known method to avoid the adverse result – permission from the Bankruptcy Court allowing the successor in interest and/or the Plaintiff to continue with claims in Circuit Court. This deadline is at least as clear and certainly as definitive as the garden variety statute of limitations. It is a known deadline with a readily understandable preclusive effect. Therefore, if the Appellant Huffman objected to the dismissal prescribed in the March 4, 2003 order, her appeal must be filed no later than four (4) months after the dismissal became effective.

C. The Appellant's Motion Of April 6, 2004 Was Both Untimely And Expressed No Grounds To Support Altering Or Amending the Circuit Court's Judgment.

Although the Appellant Huffman complains to this Court that the Circuit Court should not have dismissed the case the Appellant failed to present a supporting basis to the Court for granting her motion to reinstate the case even if the motion were deemed timely. Huffman's motion stated:

MOTION TO NOT DISMISS

Comes now the Petitioner, Vallie Huffman, by counsel, Clinton W. Smith, moves this Court to not dismiss this matter for lack of activity within the last year on the grounds that this action has been

stayed pending resolution of certain issues in the bankruptcy court for the Southern District of West Virginia. Therefore the Plaintiff was not permitted to prosecute her claim.

Nothing more was presented to Judge Berger. There was no explanation about why relief in the matter was not sought before September 4, 2003, and no request for an extension of the stay was requested. In fact, the only document ever presented is a December 3, 2003 order signed by the Bankruptcy Judge which states that the trustee H. Lynden Graham "is authorized to employ Clinton W. Smith" as the trustee's attorney. Even that order, signed as it was two (2) months after the dismissal was effective, was not presented to Court or opposing counsel until after the Circuit Clerk's Rule 41(b) notice was mailed to counsel.

The substance of the "Motion To Not Dismiss" is a motion to alter or amend judgment. Rule 59 provides the correct procedure, James M. B. v. Carolyn M., 456 S.E.2d 16 (1995). Under Rule 59(e) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure such a motion must be filed within ten (10) days of the order which it addresses. Since the dismissal was ordered in 2003 the April, 2004 motion is untimely on its face.

D. The Appellant Has Not Presented Special Circumstances Required To Justify Appealing The Denial Of Summary Judgment.

Under ordinary circumstances denial of a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment is not appealable. This Appellant has never addressed this tenet of our law and appears frankly not to recognize the same. Special circumstances are required, Sergent v. City of Charleston, 549 S.E.2d 311 (2001); Estate of Gooch v. W.Va. Dept. Of Public Safety, 465 S.E.2d 628 (1995). Because the appeal does not address the point, the undersigned will not elaborate further.

On a more substantive level the Appellant was clearly not entitled to summary judgment.

Summary judgment is proper only when a rational trier of fact could not find for the non-moving party based upon the totality of the evidence presented, Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995). The Appellant argues to this Court that because Criner involved his privilege upon counsel's advice adverse inferences follow, therefore summary judgment must also follow. Inferences are certainly not conclusive presumptions. The Appellant appears to confuse the two evidentiary concepts.

Moreover, unless the moving party produces evidence to establish as a matter of law each of the elements required to prove the movant's case summary judgment is inappropriate. In the instant case there is not now, and will not in the future, be sufficient evidence of an incendiary origin which is absolutely necessary to prove arson, State v. Adkins, 446 S.E.2d 702 (1994); State v. Mullins, 383 S.E.2d 47 (1989). In the instant case, both Circuit Court judges who entertained and denied Huffman's motion for summary judgment were correct.

E. The Dismissal Of This Action Below Is Consistent With The Applicable Law And Not An Abuse Of Discretion.

The pertinent standard for reviewing this appeal is that which is set forth in Burgess v. Porterfield, 469 S.E.2d 114 (1996). The circuit court's final order and disposition is reviewed for an abuse of discretion and legal conclusions are reviewed *de novo*.

The Appellant Huffman does not address the standard of review in her brief to this Court. If she did, she would be hard-pressed to demonstrate an abuse of discretion on Judge Berger's part. The Judge gave every break to Huffman. She was permitted to amend when it was found that she didn't even own the property and had never mentioned it in her bankruptcy case. The case remained pending for over three (3) years with no evidence of an incendiary origin. Finally,